Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-6-2020

State v. Dobson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 47894

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After his first trial ended with a hung jury, the jury in Taylor R. Dobson’s second trial found him guilty of felony attempted strangulation. The district court imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed, suspended the sentence, and placed Mr. Dobson on supervised probation for a period of four years. On appeal, Mr. Dobson asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it imposed his sentence.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mr. Dobson with felony attempted strangulation and domestic battery—traumatic injury. (R., pp.29-31.) He entered a not guilty plea to the charges. (*See* R., p.34.) After Mr. Dobson exercised his right to a jury trial, the jury at his first trial hung on the attempted strangulation charge, and found him not guilty of domestic battery—traumatic injury. (*See* R., pp.56-61.)

During Mr. Dobson’s second trial, Cassandra Sorg testified that, one Christmas Eve, she got into an argument with her husband, Mr. Dobson, after she could not find her keys. (*See* Trial Tr., p.150, L.20 – p.153, L.12.)¹ She testified that she started to bicker with him after he refused to let her borrow his keys to check their garage. (*See* Trial Tr., p.152, L.20 – p.153, L.12.) The arguing eventually escalated into yelling while she was outside their house and he was standing at the door. (*See* Trial Tr., p.154, L.5 – p.156, L.8.) After her three sons joined Ms. Sorg outside, Mr. Dobson locked the door. (*See* Trial Tr., p.156, Ls.9-18.) Ms. Sorg and her sons went for a short walk, and when they returned to the house, Mr. Dobson and one of their cars were gone. (*See* Trial Tr., p.156, L.19 – p.157, L.6.) Ms. Sorg’s two younger sons entered the house through a window, and one of them opened up the garage. (*See* Trial Tr., p.157, Ls.10-19.) Ms. Sorg found another set of keys, and used one of them to start Mr. Dobson’s truck. (*See* Trial Tr., p.158, L.13 – p.161, L.5.)

Ms. Sorg testified that she drove her sons to Mr. Dobson’s mother’s house that evening, which had been the plan before the argument. (*See* Trial Tr., p.161, Ls.9-20.) Mr. Dobson subsequently showed up at his mother’s house, and he had a loud conversation with his mother outside. (*See* Trial Tr., p.162, L.14 – p.163, L.1.) Mr. Dobson left without coming into his

¹ All citations to “Trial Tr.” refer to the transcripts of Mr. Dobson’s second jury trial, conducted on October 30 and 31, 2019.

mother's house, and his mother reported that he was very upset. (*See* Trial Tr., p.163, Ls.2-24.) Mr. Dobson's mother had offered to have the children stay at her house while Ms. Sorg went to talk with Mr. Dobson, and Ms. Sorg went to their house. (*See* Trial Tr., p.163, L.25 – p.164, L.12.)

Ms. Sorg testified that, when she arrived at their house, she saw broken Christmas decorations all over the front lawn. (*See* Trial Tr., p.165, L.10 – p.166, L.1.) Mr. Dobson had also sent her threatening text messages. (*See* Trial Tr., p.184, L.11 – p.185, L.12; State's Ex. 4.) She testified that, when she entered the house, Mr. Dobson was inside and really angry. (*See* Trial Tr., p.166, Ls.2-14.) She was crying, and there were broken things throughout the house. (*See* Trial Tr., p.166, L.15 – p.167, L.6.) Ms. Sorg testified that Mr. Dobson told her it was time to go to bed, and she told him she was angry and did not want to go to bed. (*See* Trial Tr., p.167, Ls.1-19.)

According to Ms. Sorg, the argument moved into the bedroom, where she yelled at Mr. Dobson and he pushed her onto the bed and started breaking heirlooms on her dresser. (*See* Trial Tr., p.167, L.12 – p.168, L.21.) She testified that a few times, he grabbed her around her throat, smacked her head against the wall, and told her to stop. (*See* Trial Tr., p.169, L.4 – p.170, L.10.) Ms. Sorg also testified that later, after they had both fallen off the bed during their struggle, Mr. Dobson put his hands around her neck and pulled her up. (*See* Trial Tr., p.170, L.20 – p.171, L.5.) She testified that, at some point, he grabbed her face and applied pressure to her eye sockets and pushed in on her eyes. (*See* Trial Tr., p.171, Ls.9-14.) Ms. Sorg testified that she felt that she was unable to breathe when his hands were around her neck, and he released her after she went limp. (*See* Trial Tr., p.171, L.18 – p.172, L.12.) After the incident, her left eyelid was purple and swollen. (*See* Trial Tr., p.188, Ls.4-15; State's Ex. 6.) Her neck was red

after the incident, but she testified that her neck always had some redness. (*See* Trial Tr., p.186, L.20 – p.187, L.18; State’s Exs. 5 & 7.)

Mr. Dobson elected not to testify in his defense. (*See* Trial Tr., p.281, L.24 – p.283, L.2.) In closing arguments, while Mr. Dobson’s counsel conceded that Mr. Dobson had argued with Ms. Sorg and broken stuff, defense counsel asserted that Mr. Dobson did not strangle Ms. Sorg. (*See* Trial Tr., p.314, L.18 – p.315, L.1.) The jury found Mr. Dobson guilty of attempted strangulation. (R., pp.182-83.)

At the sentencing hearing, Mr. Dobson asked the district court “for one year fixed, three years indeterminate with probation, the Court to withhold judgment and any treatment or necessary classes from the probation officer.” (Sentencing Tr., p.11, Ls.11-14.)² The State asked the district court to “either impose a sentence of one year fixed followed by three years indeterminate or alternatively impose a sentence of two years fixed followed by two years indeterminate but retain jurisdiction and send Mr. Dobson on a rider.” (Sentencing Tr., p.8, Ls.8-13.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed, suspended the sentence, and placed Mr. Dobson on supervised probation for a period of four years. (R., pp.206-10.) The district court declined to withhold judgment. (Sentencing Tr., p.21, Ls.5-8.)

Mr. Dobson filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the Judgment of Conviction, Order of Probation. (R., pp.215-17; *see* R., pp.227-32 (Amended Notice of Appeal).)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed, upon Mr. Dobson following his conviction for attempted strangulation?

² All citations to “Sentencing Tr.” refer to the transcripts of Mr. Dobson’s March 2, 2020, sentencing hearing,

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Unified Sentence Of Four Years, With Two Years Fixed, Upon Mr. Dobson Following His Conviction For Attempted Strangulation

A. Introduction

Mr. Dobson asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed, upon him following his conviction for attempted strangulation. The district court should have instead followed Mr. Dobson's recommendations by withholding judgment, or alternatively, by imposing a unified sentence of four years, with one year fixed, before placing him on probation. (*See Sentencing Tr.*, p.11, Ls.11-14.)

B. The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Declined To Withhold Judgment

Mr. Dobson asserts the district court abused its discretion when it declined to withhold judgment. "In Idaho, when a criminal defendant is found guilty of the crime charged the district court may, among other things, suspend the execution of judgment under I.C. § 19-2601(2) or withhold judgment pursuant to I.C. § 19-2601(3)." *State v. Branson*, 128 Idaho 790, 792 (1996). The decision whether to withhold jurisdiction is in the district court's discretion. *State v. Edghill*, 134 Idaho 218, 219 (Ct. App. 2000). In reviewing a trial court's alleged abuse of discretion, an appellate court considers whether the trial court: correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and reached its decision by the exercise of reason. *Lunneborg v. My Fun Life*, 163 Idaho 856, 863 (2018). "Refusal to grant a withheld judgment will not be deemed an abuse of discretion if the trial court has sufficient

information to determine that a withheld judgment would be inappropriate.” *Edghill*, 134 Idaho at 219 (internal quotation marks omitted).

“If the court grants a withheld judgment to a particular defendant and places that defendant on probation, jurisdiction is retained by the district court during the period of probation and the court has continuing jurisdiction to modify the conditions of the defendant’s probation.” *Branson*, 128 Idaho at 792. “If those conditions are violated, the district court may revoke the defendant’s probation and thereafter ‘impose *any* sentence which originally might have been imposed at the time of conviction.’” *Id.* (quoting *Peltier v. State*, 119 Idaho 454, 460 (1991)) (emphasis in original). “When judgment is withheld under I.C. § 19-2601 there is no sentence actually imposed on the defendant and, more importantly, no judgment of conviction is entered.” *Id.* at 793.

Mr. Dobson submits that the district court abused its discretion when it declined to withhold judgment, because the district court did not act consistently with the applicable legal standards. The district court did not have sufficient information to determine that a withheld judgment would be inappropriate.

To the contrary, the information presented to the district court at sentencing warranted a withheld judgment. For example, Mr. Dobson had gone through about a year of pretrial release with no violations, except for his failure to appear for his presentence investigation. (*See R.*, p.186; Sentencing Tr., p.8, Ls.20-22, p.11, Ls.4-6.) Mr. Dobson served his country by enlisting in the United States Army, and he was medically discharged while serving a tour in Afghanistan. (*See Conf. Exs.*, p.23; Sentencing Tr., p.11, L.15.)³ The instant offense was Mr. Dobson’s first felony conviction. (*See Conf. Exs.*, p.20; Sentencing Tr., p.11, L.16.)

³ All citations to “Conf. Exs.” refer to the 261-page PDF version of the confidential exhibits, including the presentence report.

Mr. Dobson had good employment, working as a crew foreman building houses for his uncle's company, while being on standby as a certified wildland firefighter. (*See* Conf. Exs., p.24.) Even though Mr. Dobson maintained his innocence, he had a low risk category LSI score of 14.0. (*See* Conf. Exs., pp.26-27.) Further, Mr. Dobson and Ms. Sorg had gone their separate ways, with their divorce finalized before sentencing. (*See* Conf. Exs., p.22; Sentencing Tr., p.11, Ls.21-22.)

Perhaps most importantly, Mr. Dobson had a groundswell of support from his friends and family. Mr. Dobson's uncle and employer, in a letter of support, wrote, "Taylor is a great example to others, [i]n my opinion Taylor is someone with hard work[,] honesty and integrity, [h]e has shown up to work when he was supposed to and did the work he was asked to." (Conf. Exs., p.50.) The uncle also stated that his company was in the middle of a 6,000 square foot cabin build "that Taylor is the main lead man in, Taylor is needed to keep the project on task." (Conf. Exs., p.50.) Mr. Dobson's mother wrote a letter of support, where she explained what her testimony would have been had she been called to testify. (*See* Conf. Exs., pp.45-49.) Mr. Dobson's stepfather wrote that Mr. Dobson "is on a path towards complete healing and redemption," and "is a person deserving of a chance to better himself, and his opportunities—to contribute to society and people around him." (Conf. Exs., p.53.) Additionally, Mr. Dobson submitted letters of support from another uncle, several aunts, his sister, two cousins, and a former supervisor at his work. (*See* Conf. Exs., pp.42-44, 51-52, 54-58, 61-62.)

In view of the above, the information presented to the district court at sentencing warranted a withheld judgment. The district court did not have sufficient information to determine that a withheld judgment would be inappropriate. Thus, the district court abused its

discretion when it declined to withhold judgment, because the district court did not act consistently with the applicable legal standards.

C. The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Unified Sentence Of Four Years, With Two Years Fixed

In the alternative, Mr. Dobson asserts the district court abused its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed. Where a defendant contends that the sentencing court imposed an excessively harsh sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent review of the record giving “due regard to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest.” *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002).

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that, “[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.” *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (internal quotation marks omitted). Mr. Dobson does not assert that his sentence exceeds the statutory maximum. Accordingly, in order to show an abuse of discretion, Mr. Dobson must show that in light of the governing criteria, the sentence was excessive considering any view of the facts. *Id.* The governing criteria or objectives of criminal punishment are: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing. *Id.* An appellate court, “[w]hen reviewing the length of a sentence . . . consider[s] the defendant’s entire sentence.” *State v. Oliver*, 144 Idaho 722, 726 (2007). The reviewing court will “presume that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant’s probable term of confinement.” *Id.*

Mr. Dobson asserts his sentence is excessive considering any view of the facts, because the district court did not adequately consider the mitigating factors discussed above in Section B. and incorporated herein. Thus, the district court abused its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of four years, with two years fixed.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, Mr. Dobson respectfully requests that this Court vacate his judgment of conviction and remand his case for entry of a withheld judgment. Alternatively, Mr. Dobson respectfully requests that that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate.