Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-12-2021

State v. Dobson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 47894

A. Introduction

Dobson and his wife, Cassy, had been arguing on Christmas eve, and after Cassy and her three boys went to Dobson’s mother’s house, Cassy and Dobson separately returned to Cassy’s

house, and Dobson was still very angry. (See generally Tr., p.150, L.20 – p.166, L.14.) Cassy was upset because Dobson, in his anger, had destroyed many Christmas decorations and lights outside her house, and when she went into the house, she discovered he had broken many things there too, and he continued to do so by picking “things up off [her] dresser and . . . slamming them down, heirlooms from [her] grandparents.” (Tr., p.166, L.2 – p.167, L.6; p.168, Ls.20-21.)

Dobson told Cassy that it was time to go to bed, and she told him she did not want to because she was angry. (Tr., p.167, Ls.1-9.) Dobson and Cassy ended up in the bedroom, and he pushed her over the footboard onto the bed, and as she tried to get up, she yelled at him. (Tr., p.168, Ls.1-13.) Dobson became very angry, and grabbed Cassy by the face “around here” and was “smacking [her] head against the wall. And then he grabbed [her] around [her] throat and told [her] to just stop” talking so he didn’t have to do that to her. (Tr., p.169, Ls.4-20.) Dobson did that a few times; when Cassy would catch her breath and say something else, he would do the same thing. (Tr., p.169, L.21 – p.170, L.10.) Cassy pushed Dobson back and, after they fell off the bed, he put her in a headlock and pulled her neck back up. (Tr., p.170, Ls. 18-19.)

Cassy attempted to stand up from a kneeling position, but Dobson got in front of her and “he put his hands around [her] neck and pulled [her] up as if [she] was standing and continued to pull [her] up onto [her] tippy toes.” (Tr., p.170, L.23 – p.171, L.5.) Cassy felt herself “actually not being able to breathe and [she] couldn’t get any air back.” (Tr., p.172, Ls.1-2.) When Cassy’s “eyes closed and [her] body went limp[,]” Dobson released her. (Tr., p.172, Ls.8-11.)

At some point during Cassy’s struggle against Dobson, he “would grab [her] face and apply pressure like on the inside of [her] sockets and then pull out at [her] eyes and push in at the same time.” (Tr., p.171, Ls.11-14; see PSI, p.131.) After Dobson stopped choking Cassy, she curled up on the bed and needed to go to the bathroom; Dobson told her, “You can just piss right there.”

(Tr., p.173, Ls.10-19.) Dobson relented, saying, “[t]hen I’m going to watch you go pee,]” which he did. (Tr., p.173, L.24 – p.174, L.6.) The next day, Cassy went on a walk, and after talking to a young friend who saw the condition of Cassy’s face, the friend told Cassy that if Cassy didn’t call 911, she would. (Tr., p.180, L.7 - p.181, L.7.) Cassy called 911 and later that day the police went to her home and talked with her and, after she was taken to the hospital, they photographed her. (Tr., p.181, L.10 – p.182, L.10; see State’s Exhibits 2-6.)

The state charged Dobson with attempted strangulation and domestic battery-traumatic injury. (R., pp.29-31.) At the end of the first trial, a jury could not reach a verdict on the attempted strangulation charge, and acquitted Dobson of domestic battery with traumatic injury. (R., pp.60, 107-108.) Upon re-trial, a jury convicted Dobson of attempted strangulation. (R., p.182.) The district court sentenced Dobson to four years, with two years fixed, and placed Dobson on probation for a period of four years. (R., pp.206-210.) Dobson filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.215-217, 227-232.)

On appeal, Dobson argues that the district court abused its discretion by not withholding judgment and, alternatively, by not “imposing a unified sentence of four years, with *one* year fixed, before placing him on probation.” (Appellant’s brief, p.5 (emphasis added).) Dobson has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion in either way.

B. Standard Of Review

“Appellate review of a sentence is based on an abuse of discretion standard. Where a sentence is not illegal, the appellant has the burden to show that it is unreasonable and, thus, a clear abuse of discretion.” State v. Schiermeier, 165 Idaho 447, 451, 447 P.3d 895, 899 (2019) (internal quotations and citations omitted). A sentence of confinement is reasonable if it appears at the time of sentencing that confinement is necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting

society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution applicable to a given case. Id. at 454, 447 P.3d at 902. “A sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion.” Id. (internal quotations omitted). “In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” State v. Matthews, 164 Idaho 605, 608, 434 P.3d 209, 212 (2019) (citation omitted).

The determination of an appropriate sentence is vested within the sound legal discretion of the trial court. State v. Beltran, 109 Idaho 196, 706 P.2d 85 (Ct.App.1985). Such discretion includes whether to withhold judgment. I.C. § 19-2601; I.C.R. 33(d). “Refusal to grant a withheld judgment will not be deemed an abuse of discretion if the trial court has sufficient information to determine that a withheld judgment would be inappropriate.” State v. Geier, 109 Idaho 963, 965, 712 P.2d 664, 666 (Ct. App. 1985).

C. Dobson Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court’s Discretion

The sentence imposed is within the statutory limits of I.C. §§ 18-923(1) for attempted strangulation. The record shows the district court perceived its discretion, employed the correct legal standards to the issue before it, and acted reasonably and within the scope of its discretion.

At the sentencing hearing, the district court considered “the guidelines set forth by statute, as well as the goals of sentencing, including the protection of the public and society, the issue of deterrence, the issue of rehabilitation and also the issue of punishment.” (Tr., p.359, Ls.8-13 (citations to page numbers of electronic file).) The district court stated that “[t]here was certainly a violent event that occurred for which you are responsible. It concerns me that I don’t think you’re taking responsibility for that.” (Tr., p.359, Ls.17-19.) The district court further explained

that Dobson was “violent towards [his] wife” and “there is a penalty that must be paid as a result of that.” (Tr., p.360, Ls.10-12.)

The district court did not merely focus on the violence Dobson inflicted upon his wife. The court noted that Dobson had no issues during approximately one year of being on pre-trial release, and was compliant with the No Contact Order. (Tr., p.359, Ls.20-23.) The court concluded:

Given the circumstances, given my belief that you can succeed in the community and I don’t think that you’re a threat at this point in time, given your showing that you can comply, I am going to give you the opportunity of probation. I’m not going to send you on a rider, I’m not going to send you to prison today.

(Tr., p.360, Ls.15-20.) After pronouncing Dobson’s sentence of four years, with two years fixed, all suspended with four years of probation, the district court denied Dobson’s counsel’s request to withhold judgment. (Tr., p.360, L.21 – p. 361, L.9; p.365, Ls.5-8.)

On appeal, Dobson argues that the mitigating factors should have required the court to order his judgment withheld, or, alternatively, to reduce the fixed portion of his underlying sentence from two years to one year. (See generally Appellant’s brief, pp.5-9.) Dobson cites the mitigating factors as follows: he went through about one year of pretrial release with no violations except failing to appear for his presentence investigation interview; he was in the U.S. Army until he was medically discharged while serving a tour in Afghanistan; he had no prior felony convictions; he had good employment as a crew foreman building houses; he was standby as a certified wildland firefighter; he had a “low risk” LSI score; and he had the support of friends and family.¹ (Appellant’s brief, pp.6-7.)

Although each of Dobson’s mitigating factors are laudable, they do not show that the district court abused its sentencing discretion by not withholding judgment or sentencing him to

¹ Contrary to Dobson’s suggestion, the fact that he and Cassy “had gone their separate ways, with their divorce finalized before sentencing” is not a mitigating factor. (See Appellant’s brief, p.7.)

an underlying fixed term of two years instead of one year. Dobson's blatant refusal to accept responsibility rightly "concerns" the court. In his version of the incident to the Presentence Investigator, Dobson *totally* omits the fact that a physical altercation took place, to wit:

When I got home I saw all the Christmas stuff I made my wife, with a broken heart I broke the decorations. I fell asleep. I woke up to my wife coming back home alone. When she came in she was belittling and mean, so we began to argue again. I kept asking if we could go to bed, but we argued more. We eventually went to sleep. We woke up on Dec 25 and decided to go to breakfast, we ate at Denneys in Caldwell, then went to my moms to pick up our kids who stayed the night there.

(PSI, p.18 (verbatim); see PSI, pp.131-32 (photos of Cassy).) Even during the sentencing hearing, Dobson went on a dissertation claiming there was exculpatory evidence withheld by the state, the state failed to properly investigate his case, and the jury incorrectly convicted him "without any physical evidence." (Tr., p.356, L.12 – 358, L.15.) Given the serious nature of the offense in which Dobson attempted to strangle his wife, Cassy, and Dobson's steadfast reluctance to accept any responsibility for his actions, the court acted well within the bounds of its reasonable discretion in sentencing him.

The sentence imposed provides reasonable deterrence to Dobson's criminal behavior, and is an encouraging factor in his probation. Dobson's offense was extremely detrimental to Cassy and her three sons, as shown by their victim impact statements. (See PSI, pp.2-10.) Dobson has failed to show that a lesser fixed portion of his underlying sentence, or a withheld judgment, were the only reasonable options.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.